1963

Grant Scott Haslam v. Paul Paulsen et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action for personal injuries to plaintiff who was injured when he received a charge of elec-

tricity from a crane boom cable and bucket owned by defendants Paulsen and operated by their agent, defendant Petersen, while the plaintiff was delivering ready-mix concrete on premises to which he had been invited as a business invitee.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was tried to a jury. Following a verdict and judgment for the plaintiff against the respondent defendants, not including the Church, the trial court vacated the verdict and judgment and ordered a new trial. From this order plaintiff appeals.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff seeks a ruling that the trial court's order granting a new trial was an abuse of its discretion, and for a reinstatement of the full amount of the judgment which the trial court vacated.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Late in 1959, construction of an L.D.S. chapel was commenced on Wasatch Boulevard just south of Thirteenth South. The property was owned by the Church and the Church itself was the builder. On or about December 18, 1959, at the request of the Church, three 7200 volt power lines were installed on the premises carried by utility poles from a point on the north side of Thirteenth South. The poles were erected on a line more or less north and south until they reached

approximately 52 feet from the building foundation. From this point the line continued to a pole a distance of 60 feet in a west southwest direction. Four wires, anchored by the top cross bars on the poles, ran side by side. The line on the south side and the two north lines were live. The other line was neutral, and each of the three live lines carried 7200 volts (R. 194) and were exposed and uninsulated. (R. 196). They were approximately 26 to 27 feet above the ground. (R. 195, 337).

A month after the lines were installed, the Church ordered some ready-mix concrete from Utah Sand and Gravel Company, to be delivered in the latter company's trucks and by its personnel. The Church also arranged with defendant, Acme Crane Rental Company, to furnish a crane, a crane operator and an oiler to lift the ready-mix concrete from the delivery trucks to the foundation of that part of the building which was adjacent to the high voltage wires. Defendant, Frank Cottrell, an employee of the Church, was the foreman in charge of the operation and he and defendant, Hyrum Petersen, the crane operator, conferred as to where to put the crane for the concrete lift job. They both knew of the exposed high voltage wires and because of the proximity of the wires to the area where the concrete was to be poured, they discussed the problem of where the crane should be placed. (R. 353-354, 389-390). The crane had a sixty-foot boom with a 30-foot jib extension (R. 356) from which a cable hung. A bucket was attached to the end of the cable for carrying the concrete. Cottrell and Petersen agreed

that the only place to put the crane was between the wires and the foundation forms, and that is where it was placed. (R. 353-354, 366, 385-389). The distance between the wires and the forms was approximately 40 feet. (Exhibit 2 D). They further agreed to, and in fact did, proceed with the unloading of the concrete without arranging for the de-energizing of the south wire which could have been done without depriving the workmen of necessary power. (R. 354, 196). Although the south line could have been insulated in two and one-half to three hours time with fibre eels (R. 196-198, Exhibit 3 P), Petersen and Cottrell proceeded with the unloading operation without insulating any of the wires against the danger that they knew existed (R. 390); and, finally, they proceeded to allow the invitee truck drivers, including plaintiff, to come into the danger zone without warning them of the dangerous nature of the area into which they were invited to unload their concrete. (R. 354, 248). The defendant Petersen, as Paulsen's agent, also proceeded to operate the crane with the boom swinging over to, and making contact with, the wire in an arc capable of extending several score feet beyond the wire (R. 401, and Map Exhibit 2D), even though he knew that the safety custom of crane operators was never to let any part of the crane or boom get within eight feet of a utility wire (R. 397), and also even though he knew it was impossible for him to see and have a clear vision of the cable when it came close to the wire. (R. 405-406, 423-424). Defendants Paulsen had furnished the

Church with an oiler whose job, among other things, was to assist the crane operator and people delivering concrete for pouring and to keep the operation safe. (R. 432, 237, 383-384). But when the Utah Sand and Gravel drivers, including plaintiff, arrived and unloaded, this oiler was not at the scene of the electrical danger to assist. (R. 248).

In such restricted area for a 90-foot boom to operate, the defendant, Hyrum Petersen, commenced unloading ready-mix concrete between noon and 1:00 p.m. on January 19, 1960. (R. 206, 366). The trucks had been loaded at the Utah Sand and Gravel Company's North Plant on Beck Street, and its employees, the drivers of the trucks, had received their orders from the company's North Plant personnel as to where to deliver the concrete. The driver of the truck carrying the first load was Dave Walker (R. 355, 390), who backed his truck up to a point underneath the exposed high voltage wires. He was not aware that he was near any wires, nor, of course, that they were of high voltage and exposed. (R. 208).

While Walker was unloading, the plaintiff drove onto the site with the next load of concrete to be unloaded. He drove in from Thirteenth South, turned his truck to the west, then backed it up so that he was facing north and ready to back up as soon as Walker was finished. (R. 242-243). He waited for approximately 10 to 15 minutes and remained in the truck where it was warm. It was a cold day and plaintiff knew of no reason to get out of the truck. (R. 249,

212). Then, after Walker pulled out, plaintiff backed his truck up in the same path along which Walker had driven. He also did not see the wires because like Walker, he had to concentrate on spotting the truck to the bucket, which took his complete attention. (R. 247-248, 207). They both backed up by use of the side view mirrors and the terrain was uneven. (R. 243, 207). Neither the poles nor the wires were within the view of their side view mirrors, nor had they become aware of the wires from any other view. (R. 247, 208). After backing to the point indicated by the place where the bucket rested, plaintiff got out of the truck, went to the back thereof, and swung the pouring chute from the east side of the truck, where it had been fastened, to a point where it could pour into the bucket. But the chute, thus extended out from the truck, was approximately one foot short of the bucket. (R. 244, 248). The crane operator, Hyrum Petersen, then caused the bucket to be swung closer to the truck but in doing so the bucket went too far and struck the truck. (R. 246). Plaintiff, who was standing on the ground at the west side of the chute, involuntarily and spontaneously reached for the bucket to push it away from, and to the south of, the back end of the truck where it had just made momentary contact. (R. 246, 451). As he grabbed the lip of the bucket with his right hand to push it away from the truck (R. 246), he received an electrical charge. (R. 246, 249). The cable holding the bucket extending from the 90-foot boom had made contact with the south 7200 volt wire. (R. 210, 211).

Plaintiff momentarily remained conscious just long enough to make a tremendous effort to break loose from the juice (R. 249) and he also remembers falling backwards and lighting on the frozen ground on his left shoulder before losing consciousness. (R. 249). He was wearing rubber overshoes or galoshes (R. 249) and he also had rubber soles on his shoes. (R. 457). His hands were protected by gloves. (R. 249, 252). The truck, of course, had rubber tires, and it is conjectured that these protections prevented plaintiff from getting the full force of the 7200 volts, which otherwise, presumably would have caused his immediate death.

Dave Walker, who had been cleaning the pouring chute of his truck, ran over to the plaintiff (R. 209), and he describes him as unconscious, with the pupils of his eyes rolled back so that only the whites of his eyes were seen. (R. 209). He also said that the bucket was just above the ground, that a blue flame was running from the bucket to the ground, and that the cable was in contact with the utility wire. (R. 210). He then saw the crane operator, Hyrum Petersen, pull the cable and bucket away from the wire and thus break the electrical contact. (R. 211). The crane itself was on rubber wheels and also resting on out-riggers. (R. 398, 273). Breaking the contact before he stepped to the ground from the crane undoubtedly saved Mr. Petersen from getting the electrical current. (R. 425-426).

Plaintiff soon regained consciousness and after some delay was driven to see Dr. Silas Smith at South Temple and Fifth East. Plaintiff was able to get around

under his own power. (R. 452). His hands were burned (R. 250-251), and he had pain in his left shoulder. (R. 250, 453). He was examined, X-rays were taken, and his burns were treated. (R. 250). He returned to the doctor next day (R. 250, 252) and he continued to see Dr. Smith until April 1, 1960, making about 12 visits during that time. (R. 252). While making these visits, plaintiff continued to work, but it was difficult and painful and he was given limited duties on the job. (R. 254). Dr. Smith, in diagnosing the source of plaintiff's continued pain, told him that he had arthritis in his shoulder and that is was something he would have to live with. (R. 252, 340, 382). For the next several months plaintiff did live with the pain thinking there was nothing he could do about it. (R. 340). But the pain continued to get worse (R. 340), his left arm and shoulder were getting smaller (R. 262), and in November, 1960, (R. 254-255) he decided to seek further medical help. (R. 340, 262). After spending a month or two with a chiropractor, he saw his family doctor, Dr. Wilson, who sent him to Dr. Pemberton, an orthopedic specialist. (R. 297-298). Plaintiff gave Dr. Pemberton the history or source of his injury as of January 19, 1960, when he received the charge of electricity and was thrown on his left shoulder and said that his injury had caused him to have pain in his shoulder which had been getting worse. (R. 298). Dr. Pemberton observed a prominence of the outer aspect of the left clavicle or collar bone. There was tenderness over the joint between the collar bone and the shoulder blade, and over the front end of the shoul-

der and out to the outer aspect. There was weakness in lifting the arm up and some restriction of motion in pulling it straight up into the air. (R. 298). After some preliminary treatment, Dr. Pemberton recommended surgery (R. 122) which he performed on or about February 8, 1961. He found that the pain was caused by (1) an inflamed bursa under the deltoid muscle, the muscle that lifts the arm out and forms a cap over the top of the shoulder (R. 299), and (2) adhesions or scar tissue which had formed between the muscle layers and the bone ligaments about the ball or joints between the collar bone and the shoulder blade. (R. 301). This scar tissue occurred from a jerking and strain on the attachment of the muscles and created inflammation or periarthritis about the joint. (R. 301).

Dr. Pemberton was able to remove the inflamed bursa and thus remove the cause of the pain from that source (R. 300) but there was nothing that surgery or any known treatment could do to eliminate the pain from the adhesions. (R. 301). Both Dr. Smith and Dr. Pemberton believed that this latter pain would remain during plaintiff's lifetime. (R. 301, 340, 382). Dr. Pemberton makes specific reference to the plaintiff's injuries which occurred on January 19, 1960, as the source of his disability (R. 302, 318), and suggests that the muscle damage may have occurred from a jerking or contracting of the muscles when they were stimulated by the electrical impulse rather than from a jar or fall. (R. 301, 314, 320). He estimates a 10 to 15 per cent permanent

partial disability of the arm at the shoulder due to muscle weakness. (R. 303).

Plaintiff was unable to work for three months following the operation. (R. 257). His left arm had shrunk to about the size of his wrist and during his convalescence he performed certain exercises to restore as much as possible the muscles and the normal size of his arm. (R. 257-259). Among the things he did to help build up his arm was to assist in a very limited way in some construction work which he had contracted out in the building of an addition to his home. He undertook this upon the recommendation of the doctor. (R. 289-290, 337-338, 456). While the effect of the operation has been to reduce the pain in his shoulder and arm, it has not eliminated it. His efforts to restore his muscles during convalescence was accompanied with much pain (R. 259-260), and upon his return to work as a truck driver, he was again forced to use his shoulder and arm muscles, and such use was constantly associated with pain (R. 259-261), although not so great as before the operation. (R. 259-260). Inasmuch as the pain is not as constant and intense now as it was before the operation, plaintiff believes the operation was very beneficial. (R. 262-263). Nevertheless, plaintiff can avoid much of the pain only by not using his arm and shoulder muscles, and he has chosen to use them to the extent required by his work, and to the extent required to keep, as much as possible, a healthy and normal size arm and shoulder. As a result of such use he has suffered, he does suffer, and will continue to suffer pain; the more he uses his

arm and shoulder, the more they pain him; the less he uses them, the more the muscles atrophy and “waste away” on him. (Unnumbered page between R. 261 and 262).

His pains and disabilities have had certain effects on his daily life and activities which may be listed as follows:

1. He reduced the amount of working time as an employee of Utah Sand and Gravel Company as much as it was possible and still keep his job (R. 260), which resulted in an annual wage loss of approximately \$957.00. (Exhibit 16 P).

2. Prior to January 19, 1960, he liked his work, even overtime hours, which he could have to any extent desired because of his seniority (R. 241), but he changed to not liking his work at all because of the pain associated with his work. (R. 260). He avoided overtime hours when it was possible. (R. 260).

3. Finally he took another job on the suggestion of his doctor (R. 264), which resulted in less pay than the reduced amount he had most recently been earning as a truck driver.

4. At home he has become nervous and irritable with his wife and children and prone to “blow up over little things that never bothered him before,” as if he didn’t have any control over it. (R. 263, 350).

5. His sleeping, which had been “sound and still,” changed to a condition of constant “turning and jerking around, just moving all night.” (R. 350-351).

6. He used to enjoy bowling as a recreation, but now he no longer enjoys it and avoids it. (R. 349, 351). As a hunter he became considerably limited in what he could do. (R. 340, 348).

7. He is now unable and restricted in doing, or is not inclined to do, the chores and work around his home. (R. 348).

8. He avoids stripping to the waist in public in sport situations where it is customary to do such for he is self-conscious about the large incisional scar resulting from the operation. (R. 349, Exhibits 10 P, 11 P, 12 P).

He cannot now trust his arm and shoulder to lift things above his head. (Unnumbered page between R. 261-262).

10. He cannot rest any object on his left shoulder because of the pain from contact with the bony prominence at the joint due to the muscle atrophe. (Unnumbered page between R. 255-256, R. 320).

The foregoing are the results of a fixed and permanent condition, the central feature of which is pain in the shoulder and arm when they are used.

When plaintiff was injured in January, 1960, he was a young man of 26 years, a high school graduate as of June, 1951, married and the father of three young children. Since then they have had one more child. (R. 239). His occupational experience since high school has been limited (except for a year's work at Dugway, where he operated heavy equipment) to his work for

Utah Sand and Gravel Company, driving ready-mix trucks. He had built up good seniority by the time of the accident. He was the 11th or 12th in seniority out of 50 or 55 men. (R. 240). He was not skilled in any other work. He liked his work as a truck driver driving ready-mix trucks and, prior to his injuries, liked to, and did, accept as much overtime work as he could get, which work was generously available for him because of his seniority. (R. 240-241).

The mortality tables show his life expectancy from the time of the trial when he was 29 years old to be approximately from 40 to 44 years.

His wage loss in 1961, the year of his operation, as compared with 1959, his last normal year, was \$1381.00. (R. 264-269, 347-348, Exhibit 16 P). This is figured by using his 1962 wage rate as a norm.

All during 1962 plaintiff was as well and as fully recovered as he will ever be, and his wage loss that year was \$957.00 (R. 264-269, 347-348, Exhibit 16 P), as compared with his last normal year of 1959. Note the similarity of his income in 1957, 1958 and 1959. Plaintiff's 1962 wage loss is arrived at by using his rate of hourly wage in 1962 for all years figured, and charting such income from the hours actually worked.

Plaintiff's special damages amounted to \$558.80 but plaintiff's counsel neglected to ask Dr. Smith if \$101.50 charged by him together with X-rays taken under his auspices were reasonable, so the court reduced

the special damage to \$457.30 which was the amount that Dr. Pemberton accounted for. (R. 303-304).

At the close of the evidence, each of the defendants presented certain motions to the court. Some motions were granted, others were denied. (R. 479-492). Among the motions made by the defendants Paulsen and Petersen, was a motion to dismiss plaintiff's action upon two grounds:

1. That plaintiff was contributorily negligent as a matter of law in failing to examine the place where he unloaded the truck. (R. 479).

2. That plaintiff failed to prove at the time of the accident that defendant Petersen, the crane operator, was an employee of Paulsens'; that in fact plaintiff was a servant of the Church. (R. 480).

These defendants also moved the court

“to strike from the record all testimony relating to loss of earnings on the part of plaintiff, past or future, all exhibits on special damage, testimony relating to Dr. Pemberton's treatment and operation charges, including hospital bills, and all claims that plaintiff has for permanent disability or pain arising from Dr. Pemberton's operation and treatment of plaintiff.” (R. 491).

As to the motion to dismiss, the court saw no merit to either of the grounds given and denied the motion. (R. 481-482, 486). As to the motion to strike, the court denied that motion, but expressed serious reservations as to his ruling, and invited defendants to move for judgment notwithstanding the verdict if the verdict

did not satisfy them. (R. 492). In making this recommendation, the court added its own view that because plaintiff did not return to Dr. Smith for further treatment, but instead went to other doctors following the 1960 deer hunt, the jury could infer that his injury occurred at that time rather than in January. The court bases this observation upon Dr. Smith's statement as related by the court:

“I told him if this continued to hurt him to come in and see me.” (R. 491-493).

Neither respondent moved for a directed verdict, but the Paulsens did request instructions covering their objections on grounds which were the basis of their motions for judgment n.o.v.

In its instructions the court presented the jury with special interrogatories and the jury made the following specific findings (R. 142-145):

1. That each defendant was negligent.
2. That defendant Petersen's negligence was the proximate cause of plaintiff's injuries, and that defendants Paulsen were also proximately responsible because Petersen was their agent acting within the scope of his employment.
3. That each defendant was guilty of wanton and reckless conduct.
4. That plaintiff was not contributorily negligent.
5. That plaintiff's special damages amounted to \$558.80, and his general damages amounted to \$50,000.00.

In submitting its special interrogatories it appears that the court did not give the jury an opportunity to answer specifically whether the Church's negligent conduct was also a proximate cause of plaintiff's injuries. Since the jury did not, therefore, make such a finding the Church moved the court for judgment in favor of the Church and against plaintiff, "no cause of action." (R. 148-149). Judgment was accordingly entered in favor of the Church. (R. 150-151).

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