1963

Grant Scott Haslam v. Paul Paulsen et al : Brief of Defendant and Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action for personal injuries which occurred during the construction of a new church building.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

After a verdict was returned in favor of the Plaintiff and Appellant, the Lower Court granted Defendants-Respondents, dba Acme Crane Rental Company, a new trial. Thereafter, in Case No. 9935 the Plaintiff and Appellant petitioned this court for an Interlocutory Appeal, Case No. 9935, and on July 30, 1963, this court denied the Plaintiff an Interlocutory Appeal.

In the Lower Court the Defendants-Respondents,

dba Acme Crane Rental Company, in addition to a Motion for a New Trial, filed a Motion for Remittitur of Excessive Damages and a Motion to Set Aside the Jury Verdict and Judgment thereon. The new trial was granted. The Lower Court did not and has not ruled on the Defendants-Respondents' Motion for a Remittitur of Excessive Damages and Motion to Set Aside the Jury Verdict and Judgment thereon.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The Defendants-Respondents, dba Acme Crane Rental Company, want this court to affirm *again* the order granting them a new trial unless this court concludes the Lower Court should be instructed to grant a judgment in favor of the Defendants-Respondents, dba Acme Crane Rental Company, of No Cause of Action, N.O.V.

STATEMENT OF MATERIAL FACTS

The Appellant's Statement of Facts is incomplete and merely shows the facts and issues as the Appellant contends them to be, and not as they were necessarily viewed to be by the trial court.

At about 1:00 P.M. on January 19, 1960, the Plaintiff was injured during the course of the construction of the Monument Park Stake House near Wasatch Boulevard and 13th South in Salt Lake City, Utah (R. 241-242). The Monument Park Stake House is located near the intersection of Wasatch Boulevard and 13th South in Salt Lake City, Utah. At the time of the accident, the Plaintiff had had seven years experience driving a ready-mix sand and gravel truck (R. 240). Exhibit 2-D,

a diagram, shows generally the location of the powerlines in relationship to the concrete pour which took place on January 19, 1960. Exhibits 23-D and 26-D show the powerlines at the job site as of April 4, 1963. In the upper lefthand corner of Exhibit 2-D, Scott Haslam drew a cross with a circle (R. 242, 243) to indicate where he stopped his truck and waited to unload it. He waited about ten or fifteen minutes to unload the truck (R. 243). Scott Haslam never saw the powerline or the poles (R. 247) prior to the accident. The weather was cold and cloudy, but it was not stormy (R. 249). While waiting to unload his truck, the Plaintiff didn't get out of the truck. He stated there was no need to get out and look around (R. 249). Prior to the accident he had made hundreds, if not thousands, of deliveries of ready-mix to job sites (R. 274).

When Mr. Haslam arrived at the job site, he drove in from 13th South in a southerly direction and turned his truck around so it faced north (R. 275). He made no examination of the premises to see whether or not it was a safe place for him to unload (R. 276). He merely assumed that everything was safe (R. 277) without looking. He never looked to see where Mr. Walker, the truck driver ahead of him, stopped his truck (R. 277). After Mr. Walker pulled out from unloading his truck ahead of Mr. Haslam, Mr. Haslam backed his truck toward the bucket but didn't back up as far as Mr. Walker had to unload (R. 278). After Mr. Haslam found out that he hadn't backed up to the bucket, he made no effort to get in the truck and back it further to facilitate unloading the truck (R. 278).

The power pole that Mr. Haslam did not see, according to his own testimony (R. 279), was some 16" in diameter and 25 to 26 feet out of the ground. Mr. Haslam never saw the power pole or the powerline when he stepped out of the truck (R. 279). He did not see the four overhead powerlines, but stated that if he had looked up, it was something he could have seen (R. 280). In fact, Mr. Haslam said that both the pole and the powerlines were something plain to be seen if he had looked up (R. 280).

At the time he was injured, Mr. Haslam was standing with the bucket hanging from the boom between him and the crane (R. 280).

Mr. Walker, the eye witness to the accident, who had worked with Mr. Haslam since about 1952 (R. 241) and who had had the same experience as Mr. Haslam, said he knew about the danger of powerlines (R. 243). He testified that he (R. 243) spotted his truck in a safe place and that he unloaded it ahead of Mr. Haslam (R. 243). He unloaded five buckets of concrete safely (R. 243).

Mr. Walker also told us that the truck driver at a job site can't unload his truck any faster than the job foreman needs the concrete, and that the truck driver takes an order from the job foreman (R. 244) as to when to start unloading, and that you don't start unloading the ready-mix truck until the concrete bucket is placed (R. 244), and that the truck driver unloads the ready-mix as slowly or as fast as they bring the bucket, unless told otherwise (R. 245). After the accident Mr. Walker unloaded Mr. Haslam's truck by backing it 6 or 8 feet fur-

ther southward (R. 247). There was no condition on the ground that kept Mr. Haslam or Mr. Walker from backing further to the south (R. 248).

The Defendant, Frank Cottrell, was the job foreman for the church (R. 352). Mr. Cottrell ordered the crane from Acme Crane Rental Company (R. 365), but did not tell them where he was going to set it. The crane was brought to the job by Hyrum Petersen, the operator (R. 366), and on arrival at the job site, Mr. Cottrell (R. 366) showed Mr. Petersen where the concrete pour was to be done. Mr. Petersen and Mr. Cottrell discussed the setting of the crane and then selected the spot where it was placed, as that spot was actually the only spot available for placing the crane and using it to move the concrete from the ready-mix trucks to the place of the pour (R. 366). Mr. Cottrell also ordered the ready-mix concrete from Utah Sand and Gravel (R. 367). On Exhibit D-2 Mr. Cottrell has drawn a circle and written in "Place of Pour" to indicate the area of the foundation being poured at the time of the accident. Mr. Cottrell said that he was familiar with the customs and practices of unloading ready-mix concrete at job sites, and that the man responsible for unloading the concrete out of the truck and putting it into the gabro bucket was the driver of the truck (R. 370). Mr. Cottrell said that the powerline could not be degenerized. He was using a 320 three phase power tool in his shed, and that demanded four wires (R. 372).

Hyrum Petersen was sent to the job site by Acme Crane Rental. Mr. Petersen found there was only one place he could place the crane (R. 387), and after a con-

ference with Mr. Cottrell, he placed it in that spot for the purpose of unloading the ready-mix trucks. At the time Walker's truck pulled out, the crane operator, Hyrum Petersen, was moving the last gabro bucket of concrete from Walker's truck to the place of the pour, and did not see Scott Haslam back his truck in for unloading (R. 393). On diagram Exhibit 2-D, Mr. Petersen placed the crane at the time of the accident and drew an "F" to mark the front of the crane, and mentioned they were working over the rear of it because of more stability (R. 399). He had the crane sitting so that the boom stuck out at approximately a 70 to 75 foot degree (R. 400), and at the time of the accident the crane was equipped with a 60 foot stick or boom with a 30 foot jib attached on the end (R. 400). Mr. Petersen took a crayon and drew a circle showing the radius of the swing of the gabro bucket on the stick at the angle of the boom at the time of the injury (R. 401). This radius is shown on Exhibit 2-D. Mr. Petersen took his directions from the man in charge, Frank Cottrell, as to where the concrete pour was to be done (R. 401). Mr. Petersen told us that it is impossible to tell the distance or judge the distance between the cable of the crane and the high tension wires from his position in the cab of the crane (R. 404). At the time Mr. Haslam was injured, Mr. Peterson was lowering the gabro bucket downward and swinging the boom slightly to the north (R. 407). Mr. Petersen said he saw the bucket move to the north as it got to the ground level, but did not see the party moving it (R. 408). He did not see Mr. Haslam reach for the gabro bucket (R. 408).

Paul B. Paulsen testified that he is one of the partners in the Acme Crane Rental Company and that he did not hear about the accident until about a year before the time of trial (R. 468). Mr. Paulsen also testified that the crane was rented to the church on an hourly basis, and that he furnished the crane with the operator, Hyrum Petersen, and John Valdez, the oiler, at the rate of \$18.00 per hour (R. 468). Mr. Paulsen and none of the other defendants doing business as the Acme Crane Rental Company were present at the time Grant Scott Haslam was injured (R. 468). Mr. Paulsen said that when an operator is sent out with a crane, he takes his orders from whoever is in charge of pouring the concrete on the job (R. 470).

John Valdez, the oiler, at the time of the accident was on the wall signalling the operator where to place the bucket to dump the pour from the gabro bucket (R. 474).

In regard to his injury, Mr. Haslam testified that after the accident, Blaine Thomas took him to Dr. Silas S. Smith (R. 250). After being examined by the doctor, Mr. Haslam said he was told to come back the next day. Mr. Haslam said that he had some burns on his hands, but at the time of the trial the burns were not visible, and his hands had healed pretty much (R. 251). The day following the accident Mr. Haslam went back to work (R. 253), and he continued to work thereafter (R. 253). Dr. Silas Smith examined Mr. Haslam on the date of the accident and said that he went over him fairly carefully and decided that there was no systemic change as

far as he could determine from what was purported to be an electric shock. He said the burn on his left hand and his pulse, blood pressure, chest, and heart all seemed to be quite normal. He had him X-rayed by Dr. Winter and stated that he noticed some abrasion and slight discoloration of his left shoulder. He described the injury or the abrasion to the left shoulder as being rather superficial (R. 375). The injury did not require a bandage or dressing by Dr. Smith (R. 375), and Dr. Smith concluded that as far as any injury to the left shoulder, no medical treatment was necessary (R. 375). Dr. Smith told Mr. Haslam that he felt the injury to the shoulder was nothing, and that he could attend his work and go ahead with it without any harm to himself (R. 375). Dr. Smith said that from his examination, he thought Mr. Haslam was capable of going back to work the next day (R. 375). Dr. Silas Smith read the X-ray taken by Dr. Winter and could observe no bony change or injury (R. 375).

During the trial Mr. Smoot decided to stipulate that he was making no claim for a shoulder injury as far as separation of acromioclavicular joint (R. 376).

On cross examination Mr. Haslam said that the burns on his hand left a slight discoloration of the skin (R. 284), and that these are the only burns he had on his body (R. 284). Mr. Haslam also testified that the burns did not require any bandages (R. 285).

With regard to other injuries, these questions were asked of Mr. Haslam: (R. 285, R. 286)

Q. "Did you ever injure your body or your

shoulder or your hands in any other accident like this?"

A. "No, I had some ribs that were cracked once on a steering wheel of a truck."

Q. "And that is the only other prior injury you ever had?"

A. "Oh, I have had my back dislocated when we had our old chute, when we had to raise them with our strength and not with the hydraulic hoists."

Q. "Let me ask you this: Did you ever injure your hands in any other accident?"

A. "No."

Q. "Did you ever injure your shoulder — your left shoulder — in any other accident?"

A. "No."

Q. "How long were you in Dr. Smith's place getting this treatment — this salve on your hands?"

A. "Oh, I imagine I was there twenty or thirty minutes."

The day following the accident Mr. Haslam went back to work (R. 286).

It was not until in January of 1961, a year following the accident, that Mr. Haslam visited Dr. Pemberton, an orthopedic specialist. Dr. Pemberton testified that prior to January 5, 1961 Scott Haslam had not been a patient of his, and that he did not see him until a year after the accident (R. 304). He said that the only thing he knew about the accident on January 19, 1960 was what

Mr. Haslam told him (R. 305), and originally when he saw him on January 5, 1961, he thought Mr. Haslam had a minimal separation of the left acromioclavicular joint (R. 305). He also thought that perhaps Mr. Haslam had a rotor-cuff tear. His finding in the exploratory operation was that his original diagnosis of a rotor-cuff tear was wrong (R. 306). He also testified that separations of the type found in Mr. Haslam's acromioclavicular joint ordinarily were not painful (R. 307), and he also stated that as far as the acromioclavicular was concerned, the condition he found might have been an anatomical thing and that there was no separation at all (R. 307, 308). Dr. Pemberton also testified that after the operation Mr. Haslam had no limitation of movement in his arm, rotating it internally or externally (R. 309). Likewise, he found no limitation in adduction and none in circumduction or extension. On cross examination (R. 311) Dr. Pemberton was asked:

Q. "In answering Mr. Smoot's question as to whether or not the injury that you found, when you operated, could be related to the accident of January 19, 1960, you were assuming that the history he gave you was correct and he only had this one accident; and you were relating it to it because you had no other way to account for the injury?"

A. "That's true."

Q. "Let me ask you: Assume we can show you he had previous injury to this shoulder, and had injuries before, wouldn't it be a reasonable assumption, maybe one of those had

caused injury to his shoulder which you found in the bursa?"

- A. "This is a possibility, and I think we always have to depend on the history the patient gives, in making a diagnosis and proceeding with treatment. Presumably, this man had dated disability — not just pain, but disability — inability doing his work — from this injury, as he stated to me; so I went on that assumption."

Dr. Pemberton also said that if Mr. Haslam had injured his shoulder on September 14, 1957 and had had it struck by a 2 x 4 on that date, that this injury could have caused the condition of Mr. Haslam for which he operated.

Dr. Pemberton also testified that bursitis or inflammation of the bursa is a condition that people get without accident (R. 314) and that as you get older, you have more of a chance of getting it (R. 314). He likewise testified that if you operated on such a condition not caused by accident, that the appearance of the bursa would be the same as one caused by accident, and that the remedy would be the same. He also said that injury to the shoulder does not necessarily cause an inflamed bursa (R. 315). Dr. Pemberton said from his examination of the bursa that there was no indication as to when it hemorrhaged and became inflamed (R. 315). In fact, Dr. Pemberton said that the inflammation wasn't acute and that it could have been there for as many as five years or that it could have been there for three years. He said that if Mr. Haslam had had other injuries to his shoulder

while working on the job, that they could have caused the condition which he found (R. 316). He said that the only thing he actually repaired was the bursa which was removed, and that he did not know whether the accident caused it or not, and that there was no way he could tell whether it did or not (R. 315).

Mr. Orson I. Jacobson was called as a witness, and he testified that he was a Safety Director and Personnel Director at Utah Sand and Gravel Company and had been so since 1954 (R. 432). Mr. Jacobson told us in 1957 Mr. Haslam reported injuries in July and November. Mr. Jacobson testified that in November of 1957 Mr. Haslam made a report of an injury to him to give to the State Insurance Fund, and that at that time he pulled the muscles of his upper back and left shoulder (R. 434). On September 14, 1957 Mr. Jacobson testified that Mr. Haslam told him while lifting a chute, a fellow worker dropped his end, causing patient to swing around and hit a 2 x 4 with his left shoulder, causing pain, and the pain developed when he returned to work on Monday, September 16, 1957 and while he was lifting the chute again (R. 436). Mr. Jacobson also testified (R. 434) that Mr. Haslam received an injury while lifting a mixer chute in July of 1957 and that he wrenched his back.

After the injury on September 14, 1957, Mr. Haslam sought medical treatment from Dr. George F. Parker, a chiropractor who treated him after this alleged injury, and he was not called as a witness (R. 435).

Mr. Jacobson also testified that in November of

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